IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH/ELLISVILLE STATE SCHOOL AND MISSISSIPPI STATE AGENCIES WORKERS' COMPENSATION TRUST

APPELLANTS

APPELLEE

V.

PHYLLIS STINSON

NO. 2007-WC-01139

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS

(On Appeal from the Order of the Circuit Court of Perry County, Mississippi)

DIANE V. PRADAT (MSB TAMEKA WILDER BUCK (MSB WILKINS, STEPHENS & TIPTON, P.A. Post Office Box 13429 Jackson, Mississippi 39236-3429 Telephone: 601-366-4343 Facsimile: 601-981-7608 E-mail: <u>dpradat@wilkins-law.com</u> E-mail: <u>tbuck@wilkins-law.com</u> ATTORNEYS FOR EMPLOYER-CARRIER/APPELLANTS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Circuit Court erred in finding the claimant permanently and totally disabled.
- 2. Whether the Order of the Circuit Court is based on substantial evidence and should be reversed.
- 3. Whether the Order of the Circuit Court is arbitrary and/or capricious and should be reversed.
- 4. Whether the purpose and intent of the Workers' Compensation Act warrants reversal in this claim.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The claimant/appellee, Phyllis Stinson, filed her Petition to Controvert on April 1, 2002, alleging that she received an injury to her back due to a fall at work. The employer and carrier/appellants, Department of Health/Ellisville State School and Mississippi State Agencies Workers' Compensation Trust, answered admitting that claimant suffered an injury in the course and scope of her employment but denying the extent of her injuries. A hearing on the merits was held on July 19, 2005, and the Order of the Administrative Judge was rendered on October 7, 2005, awarding permanent total benefits to the claimant with reasonable and necessary medical benefits.

The decision of the Administrative Judge was appealed to the Full Commission by the employer and carrier on October 21, 2005. The Full Commission issued its Order on May 5, 2006, affirming the decision of the Administrative Judge. The decision of the Full Commission was appealed to the Circuit Court of Perry County on June 2, 2006. The Circuit Court issued its Order on June 7, 2007, affirming the decision of the Full Commission. The decision of the Circuit Court was appealed to this Court on July 5 2007.

B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 1, 2002, the claimant filed her Petition to Controvert alleging a work related injury to her back from a fall in 2002. Claimant alleged that as a result of her work related injury, she was now permanently disabled. The employer and carrier answered admitting that claimant suffered an injury in the course and scope of her employment but denied the extent of her injuries. The claimant had been paid disability benefits from April 2, 2002, through the date of the hearing. (R. 51). A hearing was held in this matter on July 19, 2005. At the hearing, the claimant and Bruce Brawner, vocational rehabilitation expert, testified live regarding this hearing. Dr. Michael Molleston, Dr. John Beamon, Dr. Stephen Beam, and Dr. Rahul Vohra all testified through the use of an affidavit and their medical records regarding this claim.

The claimant, who is fifty-seven years old, is divorced and has previously worked for a blanket factory in Waynesboro, a mail order business in Gautier, the Census Bureau, and is currently an election commissioner in Greene County. (R. 21) Claimant testified that from 1991 until 1993, she worked for Ellisville State School at the Ellisville campus, and in 1997, she began working at the Richton campus as a direct care alternate supervisor. (R. 18-19). As a direct care supervisor, claimant testified that she supervised staff and programs for the clients. Claimant stated that she had to physically deal with the clients with sometimes having to restrain them from time to time. (R. 19-20). Claimant stated that she dealt with some ambulatory and non-ambulatory patients in doing personal chores and helping with their personal hygiene. (R. 20).

Claimant testified that she was injured on April 1, 2002, and after which she began receiving treatment from Dr. Beamon. Dr. Beamon prescribed pain medication for claimant and referred her to Dr. Molleston. (R. 23-24). Claimant was treated by Dr. Molleston who ordered that a MRI be done. This was done on April 30, 2002, and it showed a ruptured disc in her back. (R. 25) As a result, claimant underwent surgery on June 10, 2002 at Wesley Medical. (R. 25). Claimant received some sort of relief after her surgery and testified that her condition was not as severe as it was prior to the surgery. (R. 26). It was claimant's testimony that she had pain that began to radiate down her left leg and created numbness in that leg. (R. 26). Since then, claimant testified that Dr. Molleston has recommended another surgery due to adjacent disc syndrome; however, claimant has refused to undergo this second operation. (R. 29-30). Because of this, claimant testified that Dr. Molleston has restricted her from lifting, bending, stooping, or reaching overhead. (R. 30). Claimant testified that she has trouble walking and states that she uses a cane that was prescribed

by Dr. Molleston. (R. 33). Claimant testified that she lives with her daughter, and that she often helps out with the dishes and with cooking. (R. 34-35).

Claimant testified that she was elected to the Greene County Election Commission in 1988 and has been a commissioner since 1988. (R. 36-37). Claimant testified that she is paid \$70.00 a day when she works as a commissioner. (R. 37). Claimant testified that over a period of a month, she usually works five days a month; however, during elections, it is much more than that. (R. 37). As a commissioner, claimant testified that she keeps up with the voter rolls, the books, and conducts and holds elections. Id. She stated that as a Commissioner she also hires and trains poll workers, packs the supply boxes for the polling places, works at the counting center, and takes the paper ballots from the poll boxes. Id. Claimant testified that she cannot handle the metal ballot boxes, or the supply boxes which may weigh forty pounds. (R. 38-39). However, the other commissioners help claimant out whenever they can. (R. 39). Claimant testified that she is not impaired in any other way as for her job as Commissioner. Id. Claimant testified that she was recently re-elected to her position as Commissioner in 2004 and anticipates serving out this term of four years until 2008. (R. 40). Claimant testified that she was not receiving any benefits from this job because it is considered a part time job. (R. 40-41). Regarding obtaining other work, it was claimant's testimony that she sought work at several different places but was unsuccessful. (R. 43).

On cross examination, claimant testified that she receives \$547.00 per month for social security benefits and PERS disability benefits in the amount of \$724.00 per month in addition to receiving workers' compensation benefits. (R. 52). Claimant began receiving social security benefits in September of 2003. (R. 55). Claimant also testified that she has not worked since April of 2002; although, she currently works as an Election Commissioner. (R. 53). Claimant also testified that she sometimes attends training in Jackson, Mississippi as part of her job as an Election

Commissioner. *Id.* It was claimant's testimony that she sometimes has to work six to eight hours a day as Commissioner as opposed to five hours, and that she sometimes works more than five days in a month with up to eleven days at times. (R. 53-54). These particular months where claimant worked up to eleven days were all after her date of injury. (R. 54).

Claimant testified that she ran for the position of Commissioner because she felt she could perform the duties of that position. (R. 55). Claimant testified that she began looking for jobs for the first time in October of 2003. (R. 55). This was one month after she began receiving social security disability benefits. Claimant did not seek work again until November of 2003 and then not until January of 2004. (R. 55). At some places, claimant did not know there were actual positions available; however, she would just inquire. (R. 55-56). From January of 2004, claimant testified that she did not seek employment again until May of 2004 at two different places, then six places again in June of 2004. (R. 56). Claimant allowed ten months to lapse and did not seek employment again until April of 2005 according to her testimony. *Id.* Claimant also testified at the hearing that she sought employment in July of 2005 for possible employment opportunities that was sent to her on or around June 17, 2005. (R. 59). Claimant testified that throughout this entire time she was still receiving social security benefits. (R. 56). Claimant testified that she could possibly lose her social security benefits if she found a job. *Id.*

Claimant testified at the date of the hearing that her last visit with Dr. Molleston was on May 24, 2005; however, she had another appointment scheduled for August. (R. 62).

Bruce Brawner, vocational rehabilitation expert, was called to testify on behalf of the employer and carrier. Mr. Brawner testified that he was asked to conduct a vocational evaluation on claimant to determine her employability around her area. (R. 70). Mr. Brawner met with her and reviewed her age, experience, education, and medical records. *Id.* Regarding the specifics of this

case, Mr. Brawner testified that claimant was a high school graduate with specialty training as a nurse's aid, training in CPR, and also training regarding technical maneuvers for aggressive behavior dealing with individuals. (R. 71). Therefore, Mr. Brawner was of the opinion that claimant's level of education, formal education, is slightly above the average Mississippian, which is 11.2 years. *Id.*

Mr. Brawner testified that claimant had gained skills in supervision, in keeping records, and in entering data in a computer. (R. 71-72). He classified most of the jobs that claimant has previously held as sedentary to medium and ranging from unskilled to skilled. *Id.* He testified that claimant possessed average verbal ability, dexterity, numerical skills, and intelligence. *Id.*

Regarding the employability component, Mr. Brawner testified that his review of the medical records revealed that Dr. Molleston provided no work guidelines only his opinion that he thought claimant was totally disabled, Dr. Vohra's records provided that claimant could perform work of a light classification. (R. 72). Therefore, Dr. Vohra recommended a functional capacity evaluation. *Id.* No other physicians addressed this component according to Mr. Brawner's testimony. *Id.* Thus, Mr. Brawner testified that he outlined jobs according to Dr. Vohra's recommendations. (R. 73). Mr. Brawner also opined that claimant could work. (R. 82).

Mr. Brawner testified that out of claimant's past employment positions, only her employment as a wire puller and as a election commissioner were jobs that she could currently perform with the election commissioner job being a sedentary job and the wire puller position being a light job. (R. 75). Mr. Brawner testified that he identified 13 different jobs for claimant with correspondence dated June 7, 2005, June 16, 2005, June 17, 2005. (R. 76). These jobs included two customer service representative positions at Check Into Cash in Hattiesburg that paid \$6.00 to \$7.00 an hour; a part-time collector at Assurance Credit in Hattiesburg that paid \$6.00 to \$7.00 an hour; a temporary customer service representative position at United Credit in Hattiesburg that paid about \$8.26 an hour; a receptionist position in Hattiesburg that paid about \$7.67 an hour; a customer service representative at American General in Hattiesburg that paid about \$8.39 an hour; a manager/trainee at Tower Loan in Laurel that paid about \$10.66 an hour; a customer service representative at Express Cash Advance in Laurel that paid about \$8.28 an hour; and, a customer service representative at American General in Laurel that paid about \$8.28 an hour; and, a receptionist at Hattiesburg Clinic in Poplarville that paid about \$7.67 an hour. *Id.* All of these positions were sedentary and semi-skilled to skilled. *Id.*

Mr. Brawner testified that he checked and found no record that claimant had attempted to find employment at Check Into Cash, Assurance Credit, United Credit, Express Cash, or American General. (R. 77-78).

Claimant testified on rebuttal that she applied at Tower Loan in June or July of 2005, at United Credit in June of 2005, and that she attempted to apply to Assurance Credit but was informed that there were no applications available.

Dr. John Beamon testified through his medical records on behalf of the claimant. Dr. Beamon testified that on April 1, 2002, claimant reported that she had hurt her back at work; therefore, he pursued conservative treatment.

Dr. Michael C. Molleston testified through his medical records and deposition on behalf of the claimant. Dr. Molleston testified that he began treating claimant on April 16, 2002, based on a referral from Dr. Beamon. Dr. Molleston testified that after having claimant undergo a MRI, he recommended and subsequently performed a lumbar laminectomy and interbody fusion at L4-5. Dr. Molleston testified that it was his opinion that claimant was permanently and totally disabled. He testified that he came to this conclusion on February 4, 2003. In Dr. Molleston's deposition, he

testified that claimant could lift 15 or 20 lbs. in her personal life with restrictions of not lifting from floor to waist. Dr. Molleston testified that claimant was restricted from climbing stairs.

Dr. Molleston testified that he referred claimant to Dr. Stephen Beam for an impairment rating, which ended up being twenty-three percent to the body as a whole. After this, it was Dr. Molleston's testimony that claimant had obtained maximum medical improvement a year after surgery on June 10, 2003. Subsequently, it was Dr. Molleston's testimony that on August 19, 2003, that it was medically inadvisable for claimant to undergo a functional capacity evaluation.

Dr. Molleston testified that on November 23, 2003, claimant needed a second surgery at the L3-4 level, and he noted that claimant had not obtained maximum medical improvement. However, again on May 5, 2004, it was Dr. Molleston's testimony that claimant was again at maximum medical improvement unless she decided to proceed with the second operation. Dr. Molleston testified that the herniated disc at L4-5 and the stenosis at L3-4 were causally connected with claimant's work related injury. It was Dr. Molleston's testimony that he was unaware that claimant was working as an election commissioner.

Dr. J. Stephen Beam testified through his medical records on behalf of the claimant. It was Dr. Beam's testimony that claimant has an impairment rating of twenty-three percent to the body as a whole based on her back injury and continued pain. Dr. Beam testified that claimant was at maximum medical improvement as of February 18, 2003.

Dr. Rahul Vohra testified through his medical records on behalf of the employer and carrier. Dr. Vohra testified that claimant experienced primarily mechanical pain from L5-S1 level, was not a candidate for any additional surgery, and was at maximum medical improvement as of March 12, 2004. Dr. Vohra testified that claimant had an impairment rating of twenty percent to the whole body. Dr. Vohra further testified that he thought claimant would end up being able to perform a light level of work. Subsequently, Dr. Vohra testified that claimant should not do repetitive bending, stooping, and twisting.

The employer and carrier entered into evidence the claimant's wage records from her position of being a commissioner. These records reflect that claimant received \$2,380.00 in 2002; \$8,820.00 in 2003; and \$4,130.00 from January 1 through September 15, 2004, making it a total of \$15,330.00.

i

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The central issue in this appeal revolves around the level of review an appellate court may give to an administrative agency's decision, particularly the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission. In accordance with case law and local rules, an appellate court serving in this capacity may only review an order of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission only to see if the order was supported by substantial evidence, was arbitrary or capricious, was beyond the power of the Commission, or whether or not the order violated some statutory right of the claimant.

To determine what exactly is "substantial evidence," case law has interpreted this standard to mean more than a scintilla of evidence, such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion, and evidence which is a substantial basis of fact from which the fact in issue can reasonably be inferred.

To determine what exactly is "arbitrary or capricious" case law has interpreted this standard to mean when something is done without reason and a lack of understanding. Additionally, this standard is a less stringent standard than the "substantial evidence" standard.

Based on these two restrictive standards of review, it is evident based on the evidence presented in this case, that the Circuit Court did not base its decision on substantial evidence and that their decision was arbitrary and capricious; therefore, the Circuit Court erred in finding that the claimant is permanently and totally disabled. The Circuit Court failed to provide, in its Order, sufficient evidence [relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support their conclusion] to justify their finding. In addition to that, the Circuit Court did not consider all of the evidence presented from both sides in this case. The evidence supports the fact that although claimant's treating physician gave an opinion that she is permanently and totally disabled, the evidence proves that he was completely unaware of the fact that the claimant was safely and comfortably performing her duties as an election commissioner for her county. The evidence supports the fact that no other physician provided the opinion that claimant is permanently and totally disabled. The evidence supports the fact that one physician said claimant could return to work in the light category. The evidence supports the fact that claimant was and has always been performing her job as an election commissioner before her work injury, after her work injury, and at the time of the hearing in this matter. This job as an election commissioner falls in the sedentary work category which is in line and supported by the opinion given by the physician which stated that claimant could work in the light category. Hence, there is a substantial amount of evidence proving that this claimant can work and is not permanently and totally disabled.

Therefore, because the Circuit Court's Order is not based upon substantial evidence and is arbitrary or capricious, the Circuit Court erred in finding the claimant permanently and totally disabled.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Before presenting the central issues in this matter, it is appropriate to briefly examine the nature and scope of the courts review of the decisions of the Workers' Compensation Commission. The role of the courts in judicially reviewing decisions of the Workers' Compensation Commission based upon factual findings is appellate only; if the findings of the commission are supported by substantial evidence they are to be affirmed. <u>Presto Mfg. Co. v. Teat</u>, 241 So.2d 661 (Miss. 1970). The Commission is considered the finder of fact with the support of substantial evidence in relation to issues regarding workers' compensation. <u>Vance v. Twin River Homes, Inc.</u>, 641 So.2d 1176, 1180 (Miss. 1994) (quoting <u>Fought v. Stuart C. Irby Co.</u>, 523 So.2d 314, 317 (Miss. 1988)); <u>Harper v. North Mississippi Med. Ctr.</u>, 601 So.2d 395, 397 (Miss. 1992).

Under this highly deferential standard of review, Supreme Courts and intermediate courts will not overturn a decision of the Workers' Compensation Commission unless said decision is arbitrary and capricious. <u>Hale v. Ruleville Health Care Ctr.</u>, 687 So.2d 1221, 1224 (Miss. 1997). Intermediate appellate courts are governed by the same rules and endowed with the same powers applicable to courts of appeal under appellate tradition. <u>Gulf Coast Drilling & Exploration Co. v.</u> <u>Permenter</u>, 214 So.2d 601, 603 (Miss. 1968). However, the function of the Circuit Court, Court of Appeals, and Supreme Court, on appeal from rulings of Workers' Compensation Commission, is to determine whether there exists a quantum of credible evidence which supports the lower decision, and not to determine where preponderance of the evidence lies when evidence is conflicting, given that it is presumed that the Commission, as trier of fact, has previously determined which evidence is credible and which is not. <u>Hale v. Ruleville Health Care Ctr.</u>, 687 So.2d 1221, 1224 (Miss. 1997)

12

In relation to this matter, the employer and carrier will show that the Order of the Circuit Court awarding permanent and total benefits in this claim is not based on substantial evidence, is arbitrary and capricious, and is contrary to purpose and intent behind the Workers' Compensation Act. Therefore, the employer and carrier submit that the Order of the Circuit Court should be reversed.

II. <u>THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE CLAIMANT</u> <u>PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED.</u>

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