#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

 $\overline{\Lambda}$ 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH/ELLISVILLE STATE SCHOOL AND MISSISSIPPI STATE AGENCIES WORKERS' COMPENSATION TRUST,	
APPELLANTS	0 NO. 2007-WC-01139 0
VERSUS	0
PHYLLIS STINSON,	0
APPELLEE	0

#### **BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE**

#### (ON APPEAL FROM THE ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF PERRY COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI)

PERCY W. WATSON, ESQ. (MSB # WATSON LAW OFFICES Post Office Box 1767 Hattiesburg, MS 39403 Telephone: (601)545-1051 Facsimile: (601)582-4293 pwatson@megagate.com Attorney for the Appellee/Claimant

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The question before this Court is whether the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission Order finding Phyllis Stinson permanently and totally disabled is arbitrary and capricious and is not supported by substantial evidence. This Court should affirm the Commission's findings if they are supported by substantial evidence.

The Employer and Carrier urge this Court to act as a trier of facts on issues that have already been determined by the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission. The Court should determine whether there is substantial credible evidence to support the determination of the Commission.

Phyllis Stinson sustained a very disabling injury on April 1, 2002. She has been under the care and treatment of Dr. Michael C. Molleston, neurosurgeon, who has concluded that Ms. Stinson is not able to engage in any gainful employment. He has imposed physical restrictions on his patient which would not permit any kind of regular employment. Ms. Stinson is in pain nearly all the time which prevents her from working.

Although Ms. Stinson is an elected Election Commissioner of Greene County, the Commission and the Perry County Circuit Court have concluded that this is not gainful employment. This position does not provide regular income and Ms. Stinson needs the assistance of other commissioners and county workers to perform the tasks required of this position. Moreover, Ms. Stinson has to run for reelection in 2008 and there is no assurance that the voters of Greene County will elect her again to this position.

Further, Ms. Stinson has made numerous applications for other employment despite her

physical condition, and she has been unable to secure other employment through these efforts.

Sufficient factual support exists to support the decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission and the Circuit Court of Perry County.

The Full Commission and the Circuit Court carefully considered and weighed the evidence as a whole and found that Ms. Stinson is permanently and totally disabled and is entitled to permanent total benefits.

The Circuit Court's decision finding that the Full Commission order is based on substantial evidence and is not arbitrary or capricious should be affirmed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellant court should defer to the administrative agency's fact finding if there is a quantity of credible evidence to support the agency's decision. Hale v. Ruleville Health Care Center, 687 So. 2d 1221, 1224 (Miss. 1997). This Court should affirm the Mississippi Workers' Commission's finding of fact if they are supported by substantial evidence. Vance v. Twin River Homes, Inc., 641 So. 2d 1176, 1180 (Miss. 1994). Guardian Fiberglass, Inc. v. LeSueur, 751 So. 2d. 1201, 1204 (Miss. Ct. App. 1992). "This highly deferential standard of review essentially means that this Court [Mississippi Supreme Court] and the circuit courts will not overturn a Commission decision unless the decision was arbitrary and capricious." Hale, at 687 So. 2d 1225. Georgia Pacific Company v. Taplin, 586 So. 2d 823, 826 (Miss. 1991). Raytheon Aero. Support Servs. v. Miller, 861 So. 2d 330 (§11) (Miss. 2003) Further, an appellate court will reverse the commission's order only if the court finds that the order is clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of evidence. Myles v. Rockwell International, 445 So. 2d 528, 536 (Miss. 1984) Masonite Corporation v. Fields, 229 Miss., 524, 91 So. 2d 282 (Miss. 1956) **Riverside of Marks v. Russell**, 324 So. 2d 759, 762 (Miss. 1975). Similarly, an appellant court may not reweigh the evidence and substitute its decision for that of the commission. The court has a duty to defer to the commission when its order can be supported. **Fought v. Stuart C. Irby Co.**, 523 So. 2d 314, 317 (Miss. 1988).

"Further, neither this Court nor the Mississippi Supreme Court is empowered to determine where the preponderance of the evidence lies when the evidence is conflicting. Instead, this Court must affirm the decision of the commission where substantial credible evidence supports the Commission's order" **Barber Seafood, Inc. v. Smith,** 911 So. 2d 454 (§ 27) (Miss. 2005) Id (citations omitted).

Appellate courts' standard of review for decisions of the Workers' Compensation Commission is limited. The appellate courts will reverse an order of the commission when the commission order is not based on substantial evidence, is arbitrary or capricious, or is based on an erroneous application of the law. **Martinez v. Swift Transportation**, 2006-WC-01442-COA (Miss. App. 8-14-2007) **Smith v. Jackson Construction Co.**, 607 So. 2d 1119, 1124 (Miss. 1992) Substantial evidence is defined as more than a mere scintilla, but it does not rise to level of a preponderance of the evidence. **Delta CMI v. Speck**, 586 So. 2d 768, 773 (Miss. 1991).

Doubtful workers' compensation claims should be resolved in favor of an award of compensation to fulfill the beneficial purposes of the law. Sharpe v. Choctaw Electronics, 767 So. 2d. 1002, 1006 (Miss. 2000). Marshall Durbin Co. v. Warren, 633 So. 2d 1006, 1010 (Miss. 1994).

# II. THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE CIRCUIT COURT'S OPINION FINDING PERMANENT AND TOTAL DISABILTY

Ms. Stinson has been under the care and treatment of Dr. Michael Molleston since April 16, 2002, 15 days after this admitted injury. Dr. Molleston recommended the required diagnostic tests,

including an MRI which revealed that the claimant had a ruptured disc at the L4-5 level. On June 10, 2002, Dr. Molleston performed a lumbar laminectomy and interbody fusion at the L4-5 level. Ms. Stinson's condition improved for a brief period and she basically returned to her condition before surgery. A lumbar myelogram showed progressive lumbar spinal stenosis at the L3-4 level where the surgery was done. Dr. Molleston concluded that the narrowing was due to "adjacent disk disease."

Dr. Molleston testified that on February 4, 2003 that the claimant was permanently and totally disabled. The basis of this opinion was that she could not lift anything on the job. She should not pick up anything from the ground and that she could only lift 10 to 20 pounds from waist level. According to Dr. Molleston, Ms. Stinson cannot sit longer than 15 or 20 minutes without having to lie down. Dr. Molleston explained that the lifting limitation was necessary to prevent a worsening of her disc problem at L3-4. Dr. Molleston also stated that Ms. Stinson did not have good use of both hands in her condition.

Dr. Molleston stated that it was necessary for claimant to lie down twice in an eight-hour day for about an hour each. Similarly, Ms. Stinson testified that she has to lie down three or four times a day, can stand for only 15 or 20 minutes without experiencing pain.1 Dr. Molleston specifically prohibited the claimant from engaging in any stair climbing. Ms. Stinson's condition was so severe that Dr. Molleston would not advise that she submit to a functional capacity examination recommended by Dr. Vohra. The functional capacity examination could subject Ms. Stinson to additional injury.

Dr. Molleston continued to maintain this opinion when his deposition was taken on September 8, 2004. He further opined that the claimant's physical condition had regressed to the point that it was prior to the June 10, 2002 surgery.

<sup>1</sup> Compensation may be awarded for disabling pain without positive medical testimony as to physical cause. Morris v. Lansdell's Frame Co., 547 So.2d 782, 785 (Miss. 1989).

Dr. Molleston has treated Ms. Stinson over a period of four years. He has recommended various diagnostic tests and performed surgery on this patient. As a board certified neurosurgeon, he is well qualified to render an opinion as to the claimant's ability to work.

Ms. Stinson's condition clearly meets the definition for total and permanent disability as defined by settled case law:

> "In order for one to be totally disabled within the meaning of a health or accident policy, it is not necessary that he be wholly incapacitated to perform any duty incident to his usual employment or business, but, if the insured is prevented by his injury or illness from doing the substantial acts required of him in his business, or if his physical condition is such that, in order to effect a cure or prolongation of life, common care and prudence require that he cease all work, he is totally disabled within the meaning of such policies. **M. T. Reed Construction Co. v. Martin**, 215 Miss. 472, 477-78, 61 So.2d 300, 303, 1952. Ard **v. Marshall Durbin Cos.**, 818 So.2d. 1240, 1248 (Miss. App. 2002). **Piggly Wiggly v. Houston**, 464 So.2d. 510, 512 (Miss. 1985).

See also Dunn, Mississippi Workers' Compensation  $3^{rd}$  Ed., Section 86, Page 102, 103. [[I]f he is prevented by his injury from doing the substantial acts required of him in his usual occupation, or if his resulting condition is such that common care and prudence require that he cease work, he is totally disabled within the meaning of the statute.]

While employer/carrier claims that the medical evidence is contradictory on whether or not Ms. Stinson has sustained a permanent total disability, it is respectfully submitted that both Dr. Molleston and Dr. Vohra reached basically the same conclusion. Dr. Vohra concluded on July 13, 2005, a few days before the hearing on the merits that claimant would never be able to return to work. Dr. Beam only performed an evaluation for an impairment rating and he did not treat claimant for her injuries.

If there is a conflict in the opinions of the physicians in this case, the opinion of the treating physician is entitled to greater weight than the opinions of physicians who have evaluated claimant only

once. Johnson v. Ferguson, 435 So.2d. 1191 (Miss 1983). Clements v. Welling Truck Service, Inc., 739 So.2d. 476 (Miss. App. 1999).

Additionally, total and permanent disability may be found in spite of sporadic earnings, if the employee's injuries are such as to disqualify her from regular employment. Roling v. Hatten & Davis Lumber Company, 226 Miss., 732, 741, 85 So.2d 486, 489 (Miss. 1956). It is well established that an employee's performance of occasional work will not preclude a finding of permanent and total disability, provided the employee, "is so injured that he can perform no services other than those which are so limited in quality, dependability, or quantity that a reasonable stable market for them does not exist." Id. at 742, 489.

In University of Mississippi Medical Center v. Smith, 909 So.2d 1209 (Miss. App. 2005), the Mississippi Court of Appeals ruled that the employee was totally and permanently disabled despite the fact that he was doing occasional work. The Court noted that Smith's severe and debilitating headaches limited him from full-time work because he had to lie down during the headaches and take narcotic medication for pain relief.

Through over 30 employment applications and inquiries, Ms. Stinson has demonstrated that she is unable to obtain work in the same or similar employment at a salary comparable to her wages before the accident. Dr. Molleston had advised claimant not to engage in any major physical exertion because this may cause another disc rupture. Employer/carrier admits that claimant cannot return to her job as an alternate care supervisor. While she continues to perform some light paperwork in her elected position as an election commissioner, she is unable to perform this job without aid and assistance of other commissioners. Ms. Stinson has no assurance that she will continue to receive help from her colleagues. **O'Neal v. Multipurpose Mfg. Co.**, 243 Miss. 775, 781, 140 So.2d. 860, 863 (1962).

(Injured worker does not have any "assurance that he will continue to be the beneficiary of the employer's magnanimity."). Clearly if Ms. Stinson's colleagues ceased to assist her, she would be unable to continue in this office and unable to make the small amount of income she is receiving on a sporadic basis.

Further, Ms. Stinson has run for this elective office. There is no guarantee that she will continue to serve in this capacity since she has to run for office every four years. Her medical condition may deteriorate to the point that she is unable to perform the clerical aspects of this position. As an elected official, Ms. Stinson has no boss or supervisor other than the voters of Greene County.

Ms. Stinson respectfully submits that the Court take note of the sporadic nature of the income she receives from this position as an indication of her lack of wage earning capacity. In the year 2002, she was unable to work any in this position for about seven months and received only \$2,380.00 as an election commissioner.

Employer/carrier attributes undue emphasis to the relatively small amount of income Ms. Stinson has received as an election commissioner position as an indication of her present wage earning capacity. "Disability' means incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employer was receiving at the time of injury in the same or other employment, which the extent thereof must be supported by medical findings." Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-3(1). Disability involves a physical injury combined with a loss of wage earning capacity. **I. Taitel and Son v. Twiner**, 247 Miss. 785, 792, 157 So.2d 44, 46 (Miss. 1963).

In evaluating loss of wage earning capacity, it is important that we emphasize that disability is determined by comparing the employee's pre-injury wages with the employee's **post-injury capacity** to earn wages in the open labor market. Karr v. Armstrong Tire and Rubber Co., 216 Miss 132, 137,

61 So.2d 789, 792 (Miss. 1953). Ms. Stinson's average weekly wages from the Ellisville State School position were \$375.30 before her injury. She has no wages from this employer after her injury. Ms. Stinson earned income from both Ellisville State School and Greene County before her industrial injury. Now she is struggling trying to make some money from this second part-time position only because she has the aid and assistance of other commissioners. In **McGowan v. Orleans Furniture, Inc.**, 586 So.2d. 163, 167 (Miss. 1991), the Supreme Court ruled that the Commission should consider the evidence as a whole, including education, training, inability to work, failure to be hired elsewhere, continuance of pain, and other related circumstances, in evaluating loss of wage earning capacity.

#### III. THE CLAIMANT MADE REASONABLE AND DILIGENT EFFORTS TO SECURE EMPLOYMENT

Ms. Stinson was terminated from her employment because she was physically and medically unable to continue her employment after the subject injury. See Claimant's Exhibit 7. Ellisville State School's failure to reinstate Ms. Stinson after she reached maximum medical improvement establishes a prima facie showing that Ms. Stinson is totally disabled. **Jordan v. Hercules, Inc.**, 600 So.2d 179 (Miss. 1992) held that an employer's refusal to rehire or reinstate an injured employee who has reached maximum medical improvement provides the prima facie showing necessary to meet the employee's burden of proof of total permanent disability. Id. **600 So.2d at 183**. The burden then shifts to the employer who must show that the employee only suffered a partial disability or no disability at all. In this case, the employer/carrier has not shown that Ms. Stinson sustained only a partial disability or no disability.

Additionally, the employer has not offered Ms. Stinson another job within her restrictions. The Employer's Certification of Job Requirements outlined the physical exertions required of a direct care

capacity as a direct consequence of her injury and disability. Dr. Michael Molleston concluded on February 8, 2003 that Ms. Stinson was permanently and totally disabled and could not engage in any gainful employment. Dr. Molleston further agreed with Dr. Stephen Beam that the claimant sustained 23 percent whole body impairment. It should be noted that Dr. Vohra only "suspected" that the claimant would be able to engage in employment at the light level. Dr. Vohra did not reach a firm medical opinion because the functional capacity examination was never done. Dr. Vohra never rendered an opinion based on a reasonable degree of medical probability that the claimant was able to work at the light level. When asked specifically by the employer/carrier, Dr. Vohra responded that claimant would probably never be able to engage in regular work.

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